ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCOO-933

DCA NO. 3d99-47

CHARLES L. BRYANT,

Petitioner,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER

Public Defender

Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1961

ROSA C. FIGAROLA Assistant Public Defender

Florida Bar No. 35840 1

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This a petition for discretionary review on the grounds of express and direct conflict of decisions. In this brief, the symbol "R" designates the record on appeal, the symbol "T" designates the transcript of proceedings, and the symbol "S" designates the transcripts of proceedings which were bound separately.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Charles Bryant, the petitioner in this case, was convicted of attempted second degree murder by a jury. (R. 38). The computed sentencing scoresheet indicated a permitted sentencing range of 6.7 to 11.2 years. (S. 15, R. 44-5). The trial judge

entered a departure sentence, over defense objection, and sentenced Mr. Bryant to a term of fifteen years incarceration. (S. 15-6, R. 40). Although the trial judge articulated reasons in support of the departure during the sentencing hearing, (S. 20-22), a written order supporting the departure was never filed.

A notice of appeal was filed on December 29, 1998. (R. 52). Appellant's initial brief was filed on July 8, 1999, and raised the propriety of the lead detective's comments on Mr. Bryant's silence. On August 30th, 1999, a supplemental initial brief was filed with the district court's permission. The supplemental initial brief raised the trial court's failure to enter a written order, as well as the lack of evidence to support the departure sentence. The appellant's initial briefs were filed before enactment of the procedural rules in *Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3. I I l(e) & 3.800 & Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h)*, 9. 140 & 9.6000, 761 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 1999).

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the appellant's conviction and issued the following decision:

Affirmed. State v. DiGuilio, 49 l So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); Jordan 728 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) review granted, 735 So. 2d 1285 (Fla. 1999); Weiss v. State, 720 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), review granted, 729 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 1999).

On April 14, 2000, a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction was filed. The jurisdictional brief cited the Third District's reliance on *Jordan v. State, 728 So.* 2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) *review granted, 735 So.* 2d 1285 (Fla. 1999), and *Weiss v. State, 720 So.* 2d 1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), *review granted, 729 So.* 2d 396 (Fla. 1999), both of which were before this Court at the time, as grounds warranting review before this Court. On November 13, 2000, this Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction and dispensing with oral argument.

As this case is properly before this *Court, State v. Lofton*, *534 So.* 2d 1148, 1149 (Fla. 1988), and as this Court is thus vested with authority to entertain all issues affecting the outcome of the case, *Trushin v. State*, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1983), *Angrand* v. Key, 657 So. 2d 1146, 1148 n.3 (Fla. 1995), petitioner also raises the lead detective's improper comments on the petitioner's silence as grounds warranting a new trial.

The Trial*.

The evidence established that Charles Bryant, Everett Steward, and Jose Zuniga lived in the same neighborhood. (T. 230, 255). On the day in question, Zuniga gave Steward a ride to his car which had been left on the side of the road due to a flat tire. (T. 2 15,230). As Steward changed the flat tire, Zuniga sat on the hood

of his car which was parked directly behind Steward's car. (T. 215, 23 1,247).

A car pulled up and parked alongside Zuniga's car. (T. 2 18, 23 1,247). The passenger opened the car door and displayed a firearm while he instructed Zuniga and Steward not to move. (T. 2 18-19, 231, 247, 258). Steward told Zuniga not to worry because the people in the car were his "homeboys." (T. 2 18, 233). The passenger stayed behind the opened passenger door. (T. 235,247). The driver got out of the car, approached Steward and shot him. (T. 219-20, 233, 247, 248).

Zuniga ran around the corner and hid behind a building as soon as he saw the driver pull out the gun. (T. 220, 235, 25 1). He heard a shot as he turned the corner and climbed on top of the building to see what had happened. (T. 2 19-20). He saw the car pulling away and ran back to Steward who was laying against a fence bordering the sidewalk. (T. 220-210).

Officer Richardson was flagged down as he drove in the area and called Fire Rescue. (T. 203-04, 221, 206-07). After Fire Rescue responded, Steward was able to state his name and told Richardson he knew the identity of the person that shot him. (T. 249). In spite of this however, Richardson claimed he never asked Steward to give him the name of his assailant. (T. 208).

After Steward was removed from the scene, Richardson spoke to Zuniga and obtained descriptions of the suspects. (T. 210). Zuniga told Richardson that one

Afro. (T. 2 10). The other suspect was simply described as a black male approximately five feet tall. (T. 211). Although Bryant, who was also called Fats, weighed 350 pounds, (T. 3 10), Zuniga did not describe either suspect as being extremely overweight. (T. 2 11).

Detective Hedrick visited Steward at the hospital two days after the shooting. (T. 179). At that time, Steward gave the police officer a nickname identifying his assailant. (T. 180). Hedrick did not arrest Fats until several days later. (T. 189). Hedrick photographed Bryant after his arrest and prepared a photographic display. (T. 189-90). Steward and Zuniga both identified Fats as the driver of the car in the photographic display. (T. 190-96, 222, 226-28, 244, 254). Zuniga made his identification one day after Steward, (T. 199), and acknowledged speaking to Steward before the identification although he denied talking about it. (T. 226-27).

Zuniga also alleged that Fats visited his home the day following the shooting. (T. 223, 238). He stated that when he awoke, he heard his mother arguing with someone outside. (T. 223). As Zuniga approached, his mother told him to stay inside the house and closed the blinds. (T. 224). Zuniga claimed that Fats walked past the front of the house the remainder of the day. (T. 224). Zuniga stated he did not call the police although he believed Bryant was there because he was "looking for him".

(T. 239).

Steward, who had recently been arrested for aggravated battery against someone in the apartment complex in which he lived, (T. 267), claimed he had an encounter with Fats two days before the incident. (T. 244). Steward stated that he and a friend visited the apartment complex where Fats lived. (T. 244). The apartment Steward visited was located next to Fats' apartment. (T. 244). Steward claimed that Fats threatened him with a firearm and asked Steward to explain what had happened to the "bar" upstairs. (T. 245). Steward responded that he didn't know what Fats was talking about and left. (T. 246).

Steward's mother and aunt picked Steward up from the hospital when he was discharged. (T. 252). As they were driving into the apartment complex parking lot, Fats approached and asked how Steward was doing. (T. 252,262). Steward asked Fats whether he still believed he had taken his property. (T. 252, 262). Fats responded that he did and became upset. (T. 252, 262). Steward's aunt, who was driving the car, pulled out of the parking lot. (T. 252).

Brenda Wright, Steward's mother, testified that she worked in the Liberty Laundry. (T. 272). She knew Bryant from the neighborhood because he took his clothes to the dry cleaners where she was employed. (T. 278). Ms. Wright claimed that Bryant visited her the day after the incident and admitted shooting Steward. (T.

275,277). He explained that he knew some of the boys from the neighborhood had broken into his apartment and that he was sure that one of the boys had been Steward. (T. 277). Despite the nature of this admission, Ms. Wright stated that she did not contact the police. (T. 277).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Sentencing in this case is controlled by this Court's decisions in *Maddox v*.

State, 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000), and Butler v. State, 761 So. 2d 3 19 (Fla. 2000), in which this Court held that a trial court's failure to enter written reasons supporting an upward departure can be raised on direct appeal during a prescribed window period and requires that an appellant's case be remanded for sentencing within the guidelines.

In addition, the lead detective's repeated references to the fact that he attempted to obtain a statement from the appellant Charles Bryant, were impermissible comments on Bryant's right to remain silent. As these impermissible comments placed before the jury the fact that Mr. Bryant did not make a statement when faced with what the defense contended was a false accusation, the error cannot be deemed harmless and warrants reversal of Mr. Bryant's conviction.

ARGUMENTS

Ĭ.

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO ENTER A WRITTEN ORDER SUPPORTING THE DEPARTURE SENTENCEREQUIRES THAT THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL BE REVERSED AND THE CASE BE REMANDED FOR FURTHER PROCEEDINGS IN LIGHT OF *MADDOX v.* STATE, 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000) AND *BUTLER v.* STATE, 761 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 2000).

In the instant case, the Third District Court of Appeal relied upon *Weiss* v. *State*, 720 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), and *Jordan* v. *State*, 728 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), to deny relief. The court also cited *State* v. *DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). This Court's subsequent affirmance of the district court's decisions in *Weiss* and *Jordan*, does not preclude relief in the instant case. *Weiss* v. *State*, 76 1 So. 2d 3 18 (Fla. 2000); *Jordan* v. *State*, 761 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 2000). Unlike *Weiss* and *Jordan* which involve departure sentences for which a written order supporting the departure was filed late, a written order supporting the departure sentence was never filed in this case. Therefore, this case is factually distinguishable from Weiss and *Jordan* and is governed by this Court's decisions in *Maddox* v. *State*, 760 So. 2d 89, 97 (Fla. 2000), and *Butler* v. *State*, 761 So. 2d 3 19 (Fla. 2000).

In *Maddox v. State*, 760 So. 2d 89, 97 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that a trial court's failure to file statutorily required written reasons for imposing an upward

departure sentence constitutes a fundamental sentencing error that may be raised on direct appeal during the window period created between the enactment of section 924.051(3) Fla. Stat.(Supp. 1996) and the enactment of the procedural rules in *Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(3) & 3.800 & Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h)*, 9.140, & 9.600, 76 1 So. 2d 10 15 (Fla. 1999). *See also Collins v. State*, 766 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 2000). In addition, this Court held that the "policy reasons for correcting a departure sentence in which the trial court failed to file statutorily required written reasons for departure" remained in existence after enactment of the Criminal Reform Act. *Maddox v. State*, 760 So. 2d at 107.

This Court then articulated its disapproval of the First District's decision in *Butler v. State*, 723 S. 2d 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), *quashed*, 761 So. 2d 3 19 (Fla. 2000), in which the First District had held that a trial court's failure to enter a written order supporting a departure sentence under circumstances like those presented in this case could not be raised on appeal. *Maddox v. State*, 760 So. 2d at 107. *Accord Edwards v. State*, 25 Fla. Law Weekly S 1056 (Fla. November 11, 2000); *Collins v. State*, 766 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 2000).

The First District's decision was subsequently quashed and remanded for further proceedings in light of *Maddox. Butler v. State*, 761 So. 2d 3 19 (Fla. 2000). On remand, the First District acknowledged that in spite of the trial court's oral

pronouncements at sentencing supporting the departure sentence, the failure to enter a written order required that the defendant's case be remanded with instructions that the trial court impose a guideline sentence pursuant to *Pope v. State, 561 So.* 2d 554 (Fla. 1990). *Butler v. State, 765 So.* 2d 274, 275 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); See *also Collins v. State, 765 So.* 2d 306 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); *Ward v. State, 765 So.* 2d 299, 301 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); *Edwards v. State, 770 So.* 2d 179 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); *Foreman v. State, 25 Fla.* Law Weekly D2597a (Fla. 2d DCA November 1, 2000).

It is thus clear that a defendant may raise the trial court's failure to enter a written order supporting a departure sentence on direct appeal within the prescribed window period, and that the failure to enter a written order supporting the departure requires that the trial court impose a guideline sentence pursuant to this Court's decision in *Pope*. Charles Bryant, the petitioner in this case raised the sentencing issue on direct appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal during the prescribed window period. Therefore, the trial court's failure to enter a written order supporting a departure sentence in this case requires that the trial judge impose a guideline sentence.

II.

THE POLICE OFFICER'S REPEATED REFERENCES TO HIS ATTEMPTS TO OBTAIN A STATEMENT FROM THE APPELLANT COUPLED WITH THE PROSECUTIONS COMMENT DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT INDICATING THAT THE DEFENSE HAD NOT PRESENTED ANY EVIDENCE REQUIRE THAT THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTTON BE REVERSED AND THIS CASE REMANDED WITH INSTRUCTIONS THAT THE APPELLANT BE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL.

The lead detective in this case repeatedly told the jury that he attempted to obtain a statement from Mr. Bryant. These comments constituted an impermissible comment on Bryant's right to remain silent and warrant reversal.

Florida has adopted a liberal rule for determining whether a comment constitutes a comment on silence. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1136 (Fla. 1986). The standard of review for determining whether testimony is an infringement on a defendant's right to remain silent is whether the testimony is "fairly susceptible" to an interpretation which would bring it within the prohibition against comments on silence. *State v. Kinchen*, 490 So. 2d 21, 22 (Fla. 1985); *State v. Thornton*, 491 So. 2d 1143, 1144 (Fla. 1986). Comments or arguments which can be construed as relating' to the defendant's failure to testify are, obviously, of almost unlimited variety." *State v. DiGuilio*, 49 1 So. 2d at 1136, *quoting* Annotation, Comment or Argument by Court or Counsel that Prosecution Evidence is Uncontradicted as

Amounting to Improper Reference to Accused Failure to Testify, 14 A.L.R. 3d 723, 726-27. In *DiGuilio*, this Court noted that these comments "are high risk errors because there is a substantial likelihood that meaningful comments will vitiate the right to a fair trial influencing the jury verdict." *Id*.

Although the officer in this case never directly indicated that Mr. Bryant refused to make a statement, *see J.D. v. State*, 553 So. 2d 13 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), comments such as the ones in this case, concerning the fact that the accused was read the *Miranda* rights and that police attempted to interview the accused, have been held impermissible comments on the right to silence.

In *Hazelwood v. State*, 658 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), a detective's testimony concerning his attempts to interview the defendant were held to be an improper comment on the defendant's right to remain silent where the detective stated that he "attempted to interview" the defendant after the defendant was taken into custody. *Id.* at 1242. Although the court ultimately ruled the comment harmless, the court reasoned that the comment was "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted as referring to the defendant's failure to testify because the "comment reasonably suggested to the jury that any attempt to interview [the defendant] failed because [the defendant] refused to talk to the police." *Id.* at 1243.

The same reasoning was employed in West v. State, 553 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1989), disapproved on other ground, State v. Norstrom, 6 13 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1993), in which the appellate court concluded that repeated references to the fact that the defendant was read the *Miranda* rights constituted comments on the defendant's right to remain silent and warranted reversal of the defendant's conviction for DUI manslaughter. During the direct examination of one of the police officers, the officer made a reference to the reading of the *Miranda* rights which was interrupted by the prosecutor. In response to a question regarding the events of the night, the officer stated that the defendant was "read the rights from the Miranda cards, at which time the defendant advised he understood them and -." *Id.* at 257.

A second reference to the reading of the *Miranda* rights was made during another officer's testimony: "I did read Mr. West his Miranda rights as well as the implied consent and before the lab technician drew the blood I asked him if he understood the rights and he said, 'Yes' he did, And, I asked if he would answer any of my questions an - ." *Id*. The court ruled that these references were "fairly susceptible to an interpretation that they were comments of West's exercise of his right to remain silent" and concluded that their admission was erroneous. *Id*. at 257.

The reasoning employed in these cases warrants the same conclusion in the instant case. The detective in this case repeatedly told the jury that attempts were made to obtain a statement from Mr. Bryant. The first occurred when he indicated

that one of the significant aspects of being a lead detective was the fact that he was required to interview the defendant upon his apprehension: "When the subject is apprehended we are generally the one that does the interview unless there's some type of circumstances that maybe a supervisor does," (T. 185). This comment was followed by the detective's explicit statement that he "attempted to interview the subject." (T. 187). These comments were then further underscored by the officer's subsequent statement that the read Mr. Bryant the *Miranda* rights. (T. 196).

These comments, like the comments in *Hazelwood* and *West*, were clearly susceptible of being interpreted as a comment on Bryant's right to remain silent. The officer's repeated reference to the fact that he read Bryant the *Miranda* rights and that he attempted to interview Bryant suggested that the officer's attempt to interview him failed because Bryant refused to make a statement. *See, State v. Thornton,* **491 So.** 2d at 1 144. (officer's comments that he read the defendant *Miranda*, that the defendant indicated he understood and that he did not answer any questions were improper comments on defendant's right to remain silent where the defendant exercised his right to remain silent after the Miranda warnings and made no statements).

Comments on silence are not harmless if the evidence against a defendant is not clearly conclusive. *J.D. v. State*, 553 So. 2d at 13 19; Smith v. State, 681 So. 2d 894,

896 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). In spite of the identifications made in the instant case, the evidence of Mr. Bryant's guilt was not conclusive. The defense maintained that the critical issue to be decided by the jury was the credibility of the witnesses' identification of Charles Bryant as the offender. (T. 167, 309). Motive for the misidentification was based upon the fact that the victim, who had recently been arrested and charged with aggravated battery (T. 267), knew the real shooter and was afraid that an identification would lead to reprisals. (T. 3 1 1- 12, 167).

The evidence established that Steward and Zuniga spoke before the police showed them the photographic display, (T. 226-27), thus allowing what the defense maintained was an opportunity for collusion between the two. (T. 3 1 1- 12). It was apparent that Charles Bryant was extremely overweight. (T. 3 10). However, in spite of this striking physical characteristic, neither offender was described by Zuniga or Steward as being overweight immediately after the incident occurred. (T. 211).

Application of the harmless error test "requires not only a close examination of the permissible evidence on which the jury could have legitimately relied, but an even closer examination of the impermissible evidence which might have possibly influenced the jury verdict." *State v. DiGuilio*, 49 1 So. 2d at 1138. The impermissible testimony in this case put before the jury the fact that Mr. Bryant refused to make a statement to police when faced with what the defense contended

was a wrongful accusation. Given the defense assertion that Zuniga and Steward were purposefully identifying the wrong person, the jury may well have considered the officer's repeated references to his attempts to obtain a statement from Mr. Bryant and Bryant's failure to make a statement as evidence of Bryant's guilt.

Moreover, the cumulative effect of these statements rendered the trial court's curative instruction following the first two improper comments ineffective. This is especially true in light of the court's failure to give another curative instruction after the third comment. *Redish v. State*, 525 So. 2d 928, 931 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)(cumulative effect of comments requires reversal despite court's curative instruction); *Brown v. State*, 593 So. 2d 12 10, 12 11 (Fla 2d DCA 1992) (combination of prosecutor's cements renders comments prejudicial and requires reversal). The impact of the comments was also augmented by the prosecution's statement during closing statement in which the state argued that the defense had presented "no evidence." (T. 333).

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