IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-933

DCA CASE NO. 3D99-47

CHARLES L. BRYANT,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Chief, Criminal Law

CONSUELO MAINGOT

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0897612 Office of the Attorney General 110 SE 6th Street, 9th Floor Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 712-4653 Fax: 712-4761

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court properly departed upward of the sentencing guidelines where valid reasons for departure -- that the victim suffered extraordinary physical or emotional trauma or permanent physical injury and was treated with particular cruelty -- were orally pronounced at sentencing, and reversal is not warranted where Petitioner failed to preserve the issue for appeal and has not shown that he was prejudiced by the failure to file written reasons within seven days of the oral pronouncement of sentence.
- 2. The trial court properly denied Petitioner's motion for mistrial where the detective's comments were not fairly susceptible of being interpreted as comments on the Petitioner's exercise of his right to remain silent and where the comments could not have contributed to the verdict.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO FILE WRITTEN REASONS FOR A VALID UPWARD DEPARTURE SENTENCE WITHIN SEVEN DAYS OF THE ORAL PRONOUNCEMENT OF SENTENCE IS NOT REVERSIBLE ERROR WHERE THE PETITIONER'S UNPRESERVED CLAIM DID NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR AND PETITIONER WAS NOT PRECLUDED FROM CHALLENGING THE DEPARTURE SENTENCE ON DIRECT APPEAL.

Petitioner contends that the trial court's failure to enter a written order supporting the departure sentence within seven days of sentencing warrants reversal and remand for further proceedings on the authority of Maddox v. State, 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000) and Butler v. State, 761 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 2000). The State submits that the Third District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the judgment and sentence of the lower court on the authority of Jordan v. State, 728 So. 2d 748, 753-754 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), affirmed, 761 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 2000) and Weiss v. State, 720 So 2d 1113 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), affirmed, 761 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2000), where the absence of written reasons did not constitute fundamental error and Petitioner was not precluded from attacking the substance and validity of the reasons for departure by collateral attack or direct appeal.

To preserve for appeal a Petitioner's claim that a written departure order had not been filed within seven days of sentencing, the Petitioner is required to file with the trial court a motion to correct sentence between the eighth and thirtieth days following sentencing. <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 728 So. 2d at 753-754. Under the

Criminal Reform Act a "sentence may be reversed on appeal only when an appellate court determines after a complete review of the record that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved... or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error." Section 924.051(3), Fla. Stat. Where an error is unpreserved, appellate court jurisdiction to review the purported error lies only as to fundamental error, including unpreserved fundamental sentencing errors. Bain v. State, 730 So. 2d 296, 304-306 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). Even where a sentence departs from the guideline calculations on a scoresheet, the departure does not constitute fundamental error if the sentence falls within the maximum period allowed by law. Faqundo v. State, 667 So. 2d 476, 477 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

This Court's decision in <u>Maddox</u> held that a departure sentence in which the trial court failed to file statutorily required reasons for departure is a fundamental sentencing error that can be corrected on direct appeal even if not preserved. In deciding <u>Jordan</u> and <u>Weiss</u> as part of those cases of the express and direct conflict among the sister courts, this Court concluded:

...We agree that when written reasons for imposing a departure sentence were filed late, this late filing does not constitute a fundamental sentencing error if the defendant was not hindered in his or her efforts to challenge the grounds for imposing the departure sentence on direct appeal. See Weiss, 720 So. 2d at 1115; Jordan, 728 So. 2d at 753. (Emphasis added.)

Maddox v. State, 760 So. 2d at 108, citing Weiss v. State, 720 So. 2d at 1114 (finding that even if the trial court had filed the written reasons for departure three days late, the defendant had not been prejudiced thereby); Jordan v. State, 728 So. 2d at 753 (finding the defendant had not been prejudiced when the written reasons for departure were filed twenty-two days late but the defendant was able to attack the court's reasons for imposing the departure sentence on appeal).

Petitioner alleges that neither Jordan nor Weiss apply in this case because the written reasons were filed late, as opposed to this case in which a written order was not filed. It is patently clear that the ministerial act of filing written reasons is grounded in the principle of fair notice to a defendant of the charges and issues against which he must defend himself. If, as in Johnson v. State, the court here had failed to announce orally the reasons for departure at sentencing, and then had also failed to file written reasons, Petitioner would have had no notice and would have been precluded from a defense against the reasons for departure. Johnson v. State, 717 So. 2d 1057, 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA But, here, the record demonstrates that the trial court orally pronounced the reasons for departure at sentencing (Supp. T/20-22), and marked the sentencing guidelines scoresheet in the appropriate box for a guidelines aggravated departure sentence. (R/Vol.I:45). The certified court reporter's transcript of the

sentencing proceeding was filed in the court twelve days later on December 14, 1998. (Supp. T/34). Rule 3.703(d)(30)(A), Fla.R.Crim.P.; Torres-Arboledo v. State, 524 So. 2d 404, 414 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied 488 U.S. 901, 109 S.Ct. 250, 102 L.Ed.2d 239 (1988)(Notations written by the clerk at the bottom of the sentencing quidelines scoresheet under reasons for departure, at the direction of the court are sufficient written reasons for departure for purposes of imposing a sentence for attempted armed robbery.); Law v. State, 639 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994); <u>Pearson v. State</u>, 650 So. 2d 210, 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). Court status reports listing a trial court's reasons for departure from the sentencing guidelines are sufficient contemporaneous writing to support downward departure sentences. State v. Stone, 617 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

Therefore, Petitioner was on notice of the articulated reasons for departure and had a written transcript of the reasons with sufficient time to challenge their validity. By failing to file a motion to correct illegal sentence within the allotted time, Petitioner failed to preserve the issue of the trial court's failure to file written reasons. Nonetheless, Petitioner was not precluded from challenging the propriety of the reasons used for departure from the guidelines.

Petitioner's contention that reversal is warranted on grounds that the trial court failed to file written reasons within the

required seven day period is without merit, first, because the Petitioner failed to preserve the issue for appeal by failing to move to correct the sentence prior to filing notice of appeal, in order to give the trial court the opportunity to address and correct the error if any. Jordan v. State, 728 So. 2d at 753-754. Moreover, secondly, any error in the trial court's late filing of a written departure order was not prejudicial to the Petitioner where the oral reasons were pronounced on the date of sentencing, December 2, 1998, and the court reporter's written transcript of the sentencing proceeding delineating the reasons for departure was filed on December 14, 1998, twelve days later and fifteen days prior to Petitioner's notice of appeal on December 29, 1998. Jordan v. State, 728 So. 2d at 753-754 (The theory of requiring the entry of written reasons was to allow the written reasons to be available to the Petitioner in deciding to take an appeal). Where the record, as here, reveals no prejudice to the Petitioner in that the Petitioner filed a timely appeal and in his appeal he challenges the substance of departure order, the delay in the filing of the departure order must be treated as harmless error.

Petitioner's reliance upon <u>Butler v. State</u> for the proposition that failure to file written reasons for departure is fundamental error warranting reversal is misapplied. <u>Butler v. State</u>, 723 So. 2d 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), *quashed* 761 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 2000). In <u>Butler</u> the defendant failed to show that he was prejudiced by the

trial court's failure to file written reasons justifying upward departure sentence, where trial court explained on the record at the sentencing hearing why it was imposing an upward departure sentence, and the defendant did not challenge sufficiency of those reasons on appeal; so to the extent that error occurred, it was not fundamental. <u>Butler v. State</u>, 723 So. 2d at 865. In this case, Petitioner's counsel objected to the upward departure sentence, thus preserving the sufficiency of the reasons for appeal. In order to preserve the failure to file written reasons for appeal here, Petitioner needed to file a motion to correct illegal sentence allowing the trial court the opportunity to comply with the ministerial duty.

Parenthetically, the top of the guidelines range for the Petitioner was 11.3 years, and adding the 25% increase which is permitted without the necessity of filing written reasons for upward departure, totals 14.1 years sentence which the trial court could have given without written reasons. Here, the trial court sentenced the Petitioner to 15 years, or 9 tenths of a year over 14.1 years, but not exceeding the statutory maximum sentence permitted for attempted second degree murder with a firearm - a first degree felony punishable by a term of years not exceeding thirty (30) years or life. Section 775.082(3)(b), Fla. Stat. Petitioner was awarded 359 days credit for time served. The departure sentence was not excessive nor illegal.

Petitioner is mistaken in thinking that Section 921.0016 "precludes" the imposition of a departure sentence without a written order, thus rendering all such sentences facially illegal as a matter of law, mixing the proverbial oranges and apples to create "fundamental error." A reading of the statute shows that a departure sentence (the orange) is imposed and in addition the trial court must file written reasons (the apple) as an additional step in the process of sentencing, and is permitted to do so in a number of ways. Only when the integrity of the "apple" is called into question, does a challenge arise as to the sustainability or legality of the "orange," but they are separate entities litigated as matters of fact, and are not to be taken together to create "fundamental error." Nelson v. State, 719 So. 2d 1230, 1232 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

Therefore, where Petitioner failed to preserve for appeal his claim that written departure order had not been filed within seven days of sentencing by timely filing a motion to correct sentence, and where such error was not shown to be prejudicial to the Petitioner, the upward departure sentence is permissible. <u>Jordan v. State</u>, 728 So. 2d at 753-754; <u>Weiss v. State</u>, 720 So. 2d at 1115.

ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHERE THE DETECTIVE'S COMMENTS WERE NOT FAIRLY SUSCEPTIBLE OF BEING INTERPRETED AS COMMENTS ON THE PETITIONER'S EXERCISE OF HIS RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT AND WHERE THE COMMENTS COULD NOT HAVE CONTRIBUTED TO THE VERDICT.

Petitioner claims that the lead detective's repeated references to his attempts to obtain a statement from him constituted comments on his silence and was cumulative error warranting reversal. The Petitioner is mistaken where the three statements were not repetitive, not fairly susceptible of interpretation as comments on his silence, were properly cured upon objection and motion for mistrial, and did not contribute to the verdict.

The standard of review on a motion for mistrial is that such a motion should be granted only in circumstances where the error committed is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Solomon v. State, 596 So. 2d 789, 790 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992); Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985). Such a motion is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge and should only be granted in the case of absolute necessity. Salvatore v. State, 366 So. 2d 745 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885, 100 S.Ct. 177, 62 L.Ed.2d 115 (1979).

The threshold issue in addressing comments on silence is whether the complained of comments were "fairly susceptible" of

being construed by the jury as a comment on the defendant's right to remain silent. Only those comments which are "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted by the jury as a comment on the defendant's right to silence will be treated as such. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d. 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986).

Where a detective stated on the witness stand that he had attempted to interview the defendant at the police station in response to a question relating to his responsibilities in the case, the district court held that the comment was not fairly susceptible of being construed as a comment on the defendant's right to remain silent. McKay v. State, 504 So. 2d 1280 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). In State v. Roswell this Court held that an officer's comment that he attempted to take a statement from the defendant but "he refused to give me any information" was not fairly susceptible of being construed as a comment on silence. State v. Roswell, 476 So. 2d 149, 150 (Fla. 1985).

In the instant case, the comments made by Detective Hedrick stemmed from a line of questioning relating to the nature of the detective's job and the work which she had done on this particular case. In the first "comment" Hedrick gave the jury a general job description of a lead detective's responsibilities saying that one of her many duties was to interview suspects. (T/Vol.I:185). As in McKay, the detective was merely explaining her job responsibilities when she indicated that once a subject is

apprehended it is her responsibility to interview the suspect or to have her supervisor do the interview. This comment does not lend itself to interpretation as a comment concerning whether or not the Petitioner answered questions, was silent or invoked his right to silence. McKay v. State, 504 So. 2d at 1283.

In the second instance Hedrick described the progress of her investigation by saying, "we picked up the subject and I attempted to interview the subject." (T/Vol.I:187). During side-bar following the Petitioner's objection, the trial court stated that she did not think the comment rose to the level of a mistrial and immediately gave a comprehensive curative instruction to the jury. (T/Vol.I:188). It is presumed that the jury will follow the court's instruction. Sutton v. State, 718 So. 2d 215, 217 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). The detective never indicated the Petitioner's response to the attempted interview. The First District in McKay found the same fact to be further indication that the officer's comment was not fairly susceptible of being a comment on silence. McKay v. State, 504 So. 2d at 1283; State v. Roswell, 476 So. 2d at 150.

In the third instance, the detective responded to the State's inquiry regarding the progress of the case stating, "I read the defendant Miranda." (T/Vol.I:196). To tell the jury the Petitioner was given his proper constitutional warning is not the same as telling the jury that the Petitioner himself was, or was not silent. The detective was merely stating, as the trial court

observed at side-bar, that she was reading the Petitioner his Miranda rights, which, obviously, included his right to remain silent. (T/Vol.I:196). The detective's statement did not imply to the jury that she had attempted to obtain a statement, and that the Petitioner refused to give a statement. She only said she had done her job by following standard police procedure in informing him of his constitutional rights. Furthermore, following the Petitioner's objection, nothing further was stated and the detective did not testify as to the Petitioner's response to the Miranda warnings.

McKay v. State, 504 So. 2d at 1283; State v. Roswell, 476 So. 2d at 150.

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